# **RECEIVED**

10-30-2018

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

## **DISTRICT IV**

Case No. 2017AP1210 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

JUSTIN W. PAULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Notice of Appeal from a Judgment Entered in the Dane County Circuit Court, the Honorable William E. Hanrahan, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANDREW R. HINKEL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1058128

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-1779 hinkela@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

## **

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED**

- 1. Justin Paull was unconscious after a motorcycle accident, and police had reason to think he was intoxicated. Though there was no exigency preventing them from getting a warrant, the police did not do so. Instead, they simply took Mr. Paull's blood, relying on that portion of Wis. Stat. § 343.305 that purports to authorize warrantless blood draws from unconscious motorists. Are these statutory provisions constitutional, despite the fact that they declare a motorist to have "consented" to a warrantless search without reference to voluntariness or the totality of the circumstances?
- 2. If (as courts nationwide have held) such statutes cannot substitute for actual, Fourth Amendment consent, were the police nevertheless entitled to rely on their blanket authorization even after *McNeely* declared that any warrantless blood draw must be justified under the totality of the circumstances in each case?

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Paull does not request oral argument but would welcome it should the court desire it. Publication may be appropriate, given that our state supreme court has yet to issue a binding decision on the constitutionality of the implied consent law.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Justin Paull pleaded guilty to operating while intoxicated as a third offense, and received a six-month jail sentence, stayed pending appeal. (41:1-2). The sole issue on appeal is whether the circuit court should have suppressed the results of his warrantless blood draw.

The Sun Prairie police officer who directed the blood draw was the only witness at the suppression hearing. (39:22; App. 122). He was dispatched to the scene of a motorcycle accident; Mr. Paull, the driver, was bleeding from the head and lapsing in and out of consciousness, and was unable to answer basic questions. (39:23-24; App. 123-24). His condition, the odor of intoxicants, and the circumstances of the accident led the officer to believe Mr. Paull was drunk. (39:24; App. 124). After consultation with a superior on scene, the officer arrested Mr. Paull. (39:25; App. 125).

Emergency medical responders took Mr. Paull to UW Hospital, where the officer also went after picking up a blood draw kit. (39:26; App. 126). At the hospital, the officer read the informing the accused form to an unconscious Mr. Paull, who could not respond, and then directed the nurse to withdraw his blood. (39:27; App. 127). The blood showed an alcohol concentration over the legal limit. (39:28; App. 128).

Mr. Paull moved to suppress the test results, alleging that Wis. Stat. §§ 343.305(3)(ar) and (b), which allow the police to conduct warrantless, non-consensual blood draws from unconscious motorists under certain circumstances, are unconstitutional. (16; App. 142-147). He served the Attorney General with his challenge, but the Attorney General declined

to participate in the litigation. (17; 18). After the evidentiary hearing and briefing by the parties, the court denied suppression. (16; 24; 25; 26; App. 142-169). It assumed that the statutes are unconstitutional, but nevertheless held the fruits of the search conducted under them admissible under the good-faith doctrine. (26; App. 168-69).

Mr. Paull pled guilty, was sentenced, and appealed. (40:3,11; 36). This court stayed briefing pending the supreme court's decision in *State v. Mitchell*, 2018 WI 84, 383 Wis. 2d 192, 914 N.W.2d 151.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The Legislature's Enactment of a Policy of Taking Blood from Unconscious Motorists Suspected of Intoxication Does Not Establish That Those Motorists Have Given Fourth Amendment Consent; *State v. Mitchell* Did Not Set Binding Precedent to the Contrary.
  - A. Whether the implied-consent law satisfies the consent exception to the warrant requirement is an open question in Wisconsin

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has been asked several times in recent years to decide whether the implied-consent law supplies actual, constitutional consent, but it has not issued a binding decision on the question. In both *State v. Howes*, 2017 WI 18, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812, and *State v. Brar*, 2017 WI 73, 376 Wis. 2d 685, 898 N.W.2d 499, the parties briefed whether the implied-consent statute satisfied the consent exception to the warrant requirement, but in each case, only three justices concluded that it did.

Last term, in *Mitchell*, the court again addressed the implied-consent law as applied to an unconscious motorist. Once again, only three justices—of the seven who heard the case—concluded that the statute supplied consent in the constitutional sense. 383 Wis. 2d 192, ¶¶1-66.

Two justices—Justice Kelly, who wrote in concurrence, and Justice Rebecca Bradley, who joined him—voted to uphold the blood draw as a valid search incident to arrest. *Id.*, ¶¶67-85. But, again, this conclusion was rejected by five of the seven justices.

So, there was no majority: either for the notion that implied consent is constitutional consent; or for the notion that a blood draw from an unconscious motorist is a valid search incident to arrest. In Wisconsin, where there is no "majority of the participating judges" for any "particular point," no binding law is made. *State v. Elam*, 195 Wis. 2d 683, 685, 538 N.W.2d 249 (1995); *Doe v. Archdiocese of Milwaukee*, 211 Wis. 2d 312, 334, 565 N.W.2d 94 (1997) (where three separate opinions gave three distinct reasons for the result "none of the opinions in that case ha[d] any precedential value").

Because the decision *Mitchell* contains no majority for any proposition of law, this court must decide the question.

B. The majority of jurisdictions considering the question have concluded that implied-consent laws cannot satisfy the "voluntary consent" exception to the warrant requirement

The Fourth Amendment generally forbids warrantless searches, and a blood draw to test for alcohol is a search. *Missouri v. McNeely*, 569 U.S. 141, 148 (2013). So, a blood draw violates the Fourth Amendment unless it falls within

one of the established exceptions to the warrant requirement. *Id.* The only exception advanced by the state in this case, and the only one even arguably applicable, is the consent exception: a warrantless search is permissible if the subject of the search consents to it.

But, to validate a search, not just any "consent" will do. The consent must be given "freely and voluntarily"—be "an essentially free and unconstrained choice." *Schneckloth v. Bustamonte*, 412 U.S. 218, 222, 225 (1973). Courts determine whether consent is free and voluntary by examining the totality of the circumstances. Factors the Wisconsin Supreme Court has enumerated include

(1) whether the police used deception, trickery, or misrepresentation in their dialogue with the defendant to persuade him to consent; (2) whether the police threatened or physically intimidated the defendant or "punished" him by the deprivation of something like food or sleep; (3) whether the conditions attending the request to search were congenial, non-threatening, and cooperative, or the opposite; (4) how the defendant responded to the request to search; (5) what characteristics the defendant had as to age, intelligence, education, physical and emotional condition, and prior experience with the police; and (6) whether the police informed the defendant that he could refuse consent.

State v. Artic, 2010 WI 83, ¶33, 327 Wis. 2d 392, 786 N.W.2d 430.

So, though "voluntary consent" is a legal term of art, its meaning is not much different from the everyday meaning of those two words: a person has voluntarily consented under the Fourth Amendment when, under all the facts and circumstances, they've made a free choice to permit, rather than refuse, a particular search.

Wisconsin Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar) and (b) are in a section of the statutes containing another provision titled "Implied Consent." But what they prescribe clearly has nothing to do with the above constitutional concept. What they say (as pertinent here) is that if the police have probable cause for OWI, or if a driver has been in an accident causing serious injury and the police detect "any presence of alcohol," and the suspected driver is unconscious, they can take his blood. Far from describing a "free and unconstrained" choice to consent, the statute provides no choice at all. It is just not about consent, constitutional or otherwise. What it is, instead, is a declaration of policy: the legislature has decided that a certain group of people may be searched without consent.

The statute's only link to "consent" consists of a sort of legislative gesture toward the concept: a declaration that a certain class of people—motorists—are "deemed to have given consent" to having their blood taken. But, of course, a legislative enactment cannot defeat a constitutional requirement. The legislature can no more "deem" a motorist to have consented to a blood draw by driving than a city could "deem" a resident to have consented to warrantless

The language that matters to this case is, in Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar), "[i]f a person is the operator of a vehicle that is involved in an accident that causes substantial bodily harm ... and a law enforcement officer detects any presence of alcohol ... the law enforcement officer may request ... one or more samples of ... blood.... A person who is unconscious or otherwise not capable of withdrawing consent is presumed not to have withdrawn consent ... and one or more samples ... may be administered to the person."

In paragraph (b), the operative language says that a "person who is unconscious ... is presumed not to have withdrawn consent under this subsection, and if a law enforcement officer has probable cause to believe that the person has violated s. 346.63(1) ... one or more samples ... may be administered to the person.

home searches by connecting to the municipal water supply. The Fourth Amendment requires a particular inquiry into consent, and legislation cannot sweep that away.

For these and related reasons, courts in Arizona, California, Georgia, Kansas, North Carolina, Pennsylvania and Texas have held that statutes purporting, in the name of "implied consent," to allow warrantless blood draws from unconscious motorists are unconstitutional.

So, for example, in *People v. Arredondo*, the court said "[a] state legislature does not have the power to 'deem' into existence 'facts' operating to negate individual rights arising under the federal constitution." 199 Cal. Rptr. 3d 563, 574 (Cal. Ct. App. 2016), *rev'w granted and opinion superseded*, 371 P.3d 240 (Cal. 2016). It called "implied consent"

a misleading, if not inaccurate, label in this context. Certainly consent sufficient to sustain a search may be 'implied' as well as explicit, but it is nonetheless *actual* consent, 'implied' only in the sense that it is manifested by *conduct* rather than words.... The mere operation of a motor vehicle is not a manifestation of *actual* consent to a later search of the driver's person. To declare otherwise is to adopt a construct contrary to fact.

#### *Id.* at 571(emphasis in original).

Likewise, in *Williams v. State*, the Supreme Court of Georgia held that "mere compliance with statutory implied consent requirements does not, per se, equate to actual, and therefore voluntary, consent on the part of the suspect so as to be an exception to the constitutional mandate of a warrant." 771 S.E.2d 373, 377 (Ga. 2015).

Several courts have observed what Mr. Paull noted above: that these statutes deem searches "consensual" without

requiring any assessment of whether a motorist's supposed consent is voluntary under the "totality of all the circumstances," as the Supreme Court has long required. *See Schneckloth*, 412 U.S. at 227. Thus, the Supreme Court of North Carolina: "[t]reating [the statute] as an irrevocable rule of implied consent does not comport with the consent exception to the warrant requirement because such treatment does not require an analysis of the voluntariness of consent based on the totality of the circumstances." *State v. Romano*, 800 S.E.2d 644, 652 (N.C. 2017).

The Texas high court employed the same reasoning in State v. Villarreal, saying implied consent as a warrant exception cannot "be squared with the requirement that, to be valid for Fourth Amendment purposes, consent must be freely and voluntarily given based on the totality of the circumstances, and must not have been revoked or withdrawn at the time of the search." 475 S.W.3d 784, 800 (Tex. Crim. App. 2014). (Villareal did not concern an unconscious motorist; but the subsequent case of State v. Ruiz did, and the court reached the same result. 545 S.W.3d 687, 693 (Tex. App. 2018), review granted (Apr. 25, 2018).) See also State v. Dawes, No. 111310, 2015 WL 5036690, slip op. at 5 (Kan. Ct. App. Aug. 21, 2015) (under implied-consent statute, officer contemplates only certain statutory facts, rather than "the rest of what was going on ... 'the totality of the circumstances").

And, in *Commonwealth v. Myers*, the Supreme Court of Pennsylvania interpreted that state's implied-consent statute not to authorize blood draws from unconscious motorists. 164 A.3d 1162, 1172 (Pa. 2017). However, it went further, saying that if it had interpreted the statute this way, it would be unconstitutional, because such "consent" does not

satisfy the requirement that "voluntariness is evaluated under the totality of the circumstances." *Id.* at 1176.

Courts have also observed that implied-consent statutes authorizing blood draws create per se, categorical exceptions to the warrant requirement—a species of exception the Supreme Court has repeatedly rebuffed, most recently in McNeely, 569 U.S. at 158. Thus, per the North Carolina court: "[I]n McNeely, though [it] only specifically addressed the exigency exception to the warrant requirement, the Court spoke disapprovingly of per se categorical exceptions to the warrant requirement, id. ("While the desire for a bright-line rule is understandable, the Fourth Amendment will not tolerate adoption of an overly broad categorical approach that would dilute the warrant requirement in a context where significant privacy interests are at stake.... [A] case-by-case approach is hardly unique within our Fourth Amendment jurisprudence."). Romano, 800 S.E.2d at 653; see also Dawes, No. 111310, 2015 WL 5036690, slip op. at 5 (statutes create "a categorical exception to the warrant requirement, and they accordingly run afoul of the ruling in McNeely"); State v. Havatone, 389 P.3d 1251, 1255 (Ariz. 2017), ("unconscious clause" could not support a blood draw absent "case-specific exigent circumstances").

Besides the seven states above that have squarely ruled on implied-consent blood draws from unconscious motorists, seven others have concluded, in other contexts, that impliedconsent statutes cannot supply the voluntary consent the Fourth Amendment requires.

For example, South Dakota's implied-consent law simply authorizes the taking of blood: conscious or not, a motorist has no opportunity under the statute to refuse. S.D. CODIFIED LAWS § 32-23-10. So in *State v. Fierro*, a

case involving a conscious motorist who did not, factually, consent to a blood draw, the Supreme Court of South Dakota held the law unconstitutional because it authorized "consent" searches where actual, "free and voluntary consent" was absent. 853 N.W.2d 235, 241 (S.D. 2014). Similar results were had in *People v. Turner*, 97 N.E.3d 140, 152 (Ill. App. Ct. 2018) and *Byars v. State*, 336 P.3d 939, 946 (Nev. 2014).

Other courts have struck down statutory provisions authorizing implied-consent blood draws before going on to consider whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the driver actually gave voluntary consent. *Flonnory v. State*, 109 A.3d 1060, 1065 (Del. 2015); *State v. Pettijohn*, 899 N.W.2d 1, 26–27 (Iowa 2017) ("[T]he clear implication of the *McNeely* decision is that statutorily implied consent to submit to a warrantless blood test under threat of civil penalties for refusal to submit does not constitute consent for purposes of the Fourth Amendment."); *State v. Modlin*, 867 N.W.2d 609, 619 (Neb. 2015).

Finally, one court, faced with a statute that facially authorized blood draws without regard to actual consent, found the blood draw at issue unlawful but refrained from invalidating the statute, deciding instead that the its language could be read to authorize only *warranted* searches. *State v. Wells*, No. M2013-01145-CCA-R9CD, 2014 WL 4977356, slip op. at 13, 19 (Tenn. Crim. App. Oct. 6, 2014).

C. A small minority of jurisdictions have concluded that an implied-consent statute can supply actual, constitutional consent, but their reasoning cannot withstand scrutiny

Courts in six states have held that implied-consent laws can provide a *per se* exception to the warrant requirement. These courts' analyses have typically viewed

Birchfield v. North Dakota, 136 S. Ct. 2160 (2016), as blessing (or at least not forbidding) this conclusion.

The most cited of these decisions is *People v. Hyde*, 393 P.3d 962 (Colo. 2017), another case involving an unconscious motorist. There, the supreme court relied on *Birchfield*'s sanctioning of "the general concept of implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply. Petitioners do not question the constitutionality of those laws, *and nothing we say here should be read to cast doubt on them.*" *Hyde*, 393 P.3d at 968 (emphasis added by Colorado court) (citing *Birchfield*, 136 S.Ct. at 2185).

The court allowed that *Birchfield* had rejected impliedconsent laws imposing criminal penalties for refusal, but noted that Colorado's imposed only civil ones. From this, the court concluded (without further explanation) that because legislatures may levy civil penalties on motorists who refuse a blood draw, they may also simply authorize such blood draws, regardless of actual consent. *Id.* (The Court of Appeals of Virginia took the same route on the way to announcing an the "implied consent exception to search requirement." Wolfe v. Commonwealth, 793 S.E.2d 811, 814-15 (Va. Ct. App. 2016).). See also McGraw v. State, 245 So. 3d 760, 767 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2018), review granted, No. SC18-792, 2018 WL 3342880 (Fla. July 9, 2018) (citing Hyde with approval).

Hyde (and Wolfe and McGraw) misread Birchfield. When Birchfield spoke favorably of implied-consent laws, it was talking about a particular variety: "implied-consent laws that impose civil penalties and evidentiary consequences on motorists who refuse to comply." 136 S. Ct. at 2185 (emphasis added). Such laws are, of course, completely

different from provisions like the one here, which permits the taking of blood without a warrant. Rather than imposing civil penalties for refusing to comply, the statute outright eliminates the ability to refuse.

And it's not at all convincing to claim that *Birchfield*'s approval of civil penalties for refusal (as opposed to criminal ones, which it held unconstitutional) means that states imposing only civil penalties for refusal (like Wisconsin) are also free to dispense altogether with the *possibility* of refusal. *Hyde*; 393 P.3d at 968. In fact, *Birchfield*'s reasoning strongly implies the opposite: if criminal penalties for refusal are unlawful because they too heavily burden the exercise of the Fourth Amendment right to refuse a blood test, can it really be that the state can outright abolish the very same right?

And *Birchfield* did more than just imply this conclusion. Addressing North Dakota's argument that blood tests were indispensible law enforcement tools (and thus valid searches incident to arrest) because they, unlike breath tests, could be performed on unconscious motorists, the Court said: "we have no reason to believe that such situations are common in drunk-driving arrests, and when they arise, the *police may apply for a warrant if need be*. Id. at 2184-85 (emphasis added).

Three other courts have raised distinct rationales for allowing warrantless searches pursuant to implied-consent statutes. None is any more convincing. First, the high court of Oklahoma held that its statute—which authorized warrantless blood draws only in cases of an accident involving death or great bodily injury—created an acceptable *per se* exigency, as distinct from the *per se* exigency the Court rejected in *McNeely. Cripps v. State*, 387 P.3d 906, 909 (2016), *cert. denied*, 137 S. Ct. 2186 (2017). But the Supreme Court has

rejected the notion that the "the seriousness of the offense under investigation itself creates exigent circumstances of the kind that under the Fourth Amendment justify a warrantless search." *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 394 (1978).

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