#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# **RECEIVED**

11-29-2018

COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2017AP1210 CR

\_\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

JUSTIN W PAULL,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 7, THE HONORABLE William E. Hanrahan, PRESIDING

William L. Brown
Deputy District Attorney
Dane County, Wisconsin
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
State Bar No. 1085130

215 South Hamilton Street
Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000
Madison, WI 53703
Telephone: (608)266-4211

##

#### I. Statement of the Case and Facts

This case presents an odd appeal, in that both the State and the Defense agree on nearly every relevant fact. The State does not quarrel with the manner by which the facts were presented by opposing counsel. To provide a bit more clarity, I provide the following timeline (citing the defendant appellant exhibit of the Motion hearing transcript)

A hearing was held on September 23, 2016 at which time Officer Ryhan Smith testified. The relevant facts elicited at that hearing are as follows:

- 1. The defendant, Justin Paull crashed his motorcycle in the City of Sun Prairie, Dane County, Wisconsin on September 7, 2015 at approximately 7:36 PM. (R. Smith trans., 22:24-23:24).
- 2. Officer Ryhan Smith responded to the crash. (Id).
- 3. Officer Smith spoke to the defendant as he was being attended to by good Samaritans. The defendant was "in and out of consciousness," and "spoke with slurred speech and smelled of intoxicants." (Smith 24:3-10).

- 4. Due to the location of the crash on a slow speed road, the location of the motorcycle, and the slurred speech, Officer Smith believed the defendant to be intoxicated. (Smith 24:21-24).
- 5. Officer Smith decided to place the defendant under arrest at this time for operating a motor vehicle while under the influence of intoxicants. (Smith 25:15-17).
- 6. Officer Smith went to the University of Wisconsin Hospital in Madison, Wisconsin to wait for Mr. Paull to finish receiving medical treatment. Officer Smith planned to read the defendant the informing the accused form prior to obtaining a blood draw. (Smith 26:24-27:3).
- 7. Officer Smith was finally able to read the defendant the informing the accused form and draw blood approximately three hours after the crash. (Smith 27:9-27:16).
- 8. The defendant was unconscious at the time the informing the accused form was read to him and his blood was drawn. (Smith 27:17-27:25).
- 9. At the time of this incident, Officer Smith says it was the policy of the Sun Prairie Police, when

obtaining a blood draw on an unconscious driver, to read the informing the accused form and then obtain a blood sample without a warrant. (Smith 35:12-14).

10. Three days after the incident at hand, on September 10, 2015, a memorandum was sent to Sun Prairie Police officers indicating that they should begin obtaining warrants for unconscious drivers. (See Exhibit 1 or Smith testimony).

As the appellant points out, Judge Hanrahan heard the defense motion, considered briefs, and denied the motion to suppress the blood draw. Mr. Paull entered a plea of guilty.

The defense is asking the court to embark on a nationwide search for jurisdictions that have prohibited warrantless blood draw's from unconscious drivers. Next, the Defendant-Appellant asks the Court declare that Wis. Stat. 343.305, a law that nearly every court in Wisconsin, including our Supreme Court, has struggled with, must have been known to be unconstitutional by the patrol officer on the scene. The defense makes this request knowing full well that Wis. Stat. 343.305 remains constitutional in Wisconsin

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Referencing Defendant-Appellant's brief at pp. 14.

today. Lastly, the Defense completely ignores the ruling of the Circuit Court that Officer Smith's seizure of blood from the Defendant-Appellant was an "objectively reasonable belief" of fourth amendment parameters and, thus, the Court denied the defense motion.<sup>2</sup>

# II. The unconscious driver provisions of Wisconsin's implied consent law are constitutional.

The unconscious driver provisions in Wisconsin's implied consent law at Wis. Stat. 343.305 have been part of the law for decades and have never been held unconstitutional by any appellate court. Nothing in <a href="State v. Mitchell">State v. Mitchell</a>, 1018 WI 84, 383 Wis. 2D 192, Missouri v. McNeely, 569 U.S. 141 (2013), or <a href="Birchfield v. North Dakota">Birchfield v. North Dakota</a>, 136 S. Ct. 2160, renders the law unconstitutional. Neither does the law in Arizona, California, Texas, Kansas, Georgia, or North Carolina. Wis. Stat. 343.305 remains constitutional in Wisconsin.

Paull does not dispute that no Wisconsin appellate court has found the unconscious driver provisions unconstitutional. But argues that the provisions are

4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Record 26 (Order) pp.2

unconstitutional under a collective reading of the laws in California, Texas, and Georgia<sup>3</sup> along with McNeely. This Court should not participate in such a skewed reasoning to declare a lawfully enacted statute unconstitutional.

In interpreting the constitutionality of a statute, a

Court begins with the plain language of the statute. State

v. Dinkins, 2012 WI 24, ¶ 29, 339 Wis. 2d 78 (citing State

ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis.

2d 633.). Statutes that are lawfully enacted in Wisconsin

are presumed constitutional and anyone challenging a

statute's constitutionality has the burden of demonstrating

that a statute is unconstitutional beyond a reasonable

doubt. Wisconsin Med. Soc'y, Inc. v. Morgan, 2010 WI 94, ¶

37, 328 Wis. 2d 469, 787 N.W.2d 22.

A facial challenge to the constitutionality of a statute cannot prevail unless "the law cannot be enforced under any circumstances." State v. Wood, 2010 WI 17  $\P$  13, 323 Wis.2d 321.

The defendant errored in the trial court in asserting that <u>State v. Padley</u> changed Wisconsin's implied consent law as it relates to unconscious drivers. In <u>Padley</u>, 2014 WI App. 65, the appeals court affirmed the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See Paull's brief at pp. 7-8

constitutionality of the implied consent law ("For the foregoing reasons, we conclude that Padley fails to demonstrate that her consent to the blood draw was invalid because Wis. Stat. § 343.305(3)(ar)2. is facially unconstitutional or because her consent was involuntary. .

. we affirm the decision of the circuit court denying Padley's motion to suppress.") State v. Padley, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 81, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 590, 849 N.W.2d 867, 888, review denied, 2014 WI 122, ¶ 81, 855 N.W.2d 695.

The defense position was that "implied consent" is not "actual consent." This phrasing is pulled from the decision in <a href="Padley">Padley</a>, yet, ignores the holding. The State asserts, however, that the "actual consent" provided by the Defendant (and all licensed drivers) is the voluntary consent given at the time of driving on a Wisconsin highway.

The State asks the Court to refer to Wis. Stats. § 343.305(2), which states that "[a]ny person . . . who drives or operates a motor vehicle upon the highways of this state . . . is deemed to have given consent to one or more tests of his or her breath, blood, or urine, for the purpose of determining the presence or quantity . . . of

alcohol, controlled substances, controlled substance analogs or other drugs . . . when requested to do so by a law enforcement officer [upon arrest for an OWI related offense] or when required to do so under sub. (3)(ar) or (b)." A strict reading of this statute shows that the "consent" is provided at the time of driving on the highways of our State. The Constitution does not demand a second occurrence of consent at the time of a crash or an OWI arrest (although a conscious driver has the ability to withdraw consent and suffer the consequences of that decision).

The defendant's Padley argument has now been abandoned for a McNeely argument. The analysis, however, remains the same.

Paull argues about differences between implied consent and actual consent. (Paull's Br. 5-6.) But the supreme court has concluded that implied consent that is not withdrawn authorizes a blood draw. Disch, 129 Wis. 2d 225 at 233-34 (1986). No Wisconsin or United States Supreme Court case has overruled Disch, and it remains good law that binds this Court. See State v. Howes, 2017 WI 18, ¶ 75, 373 Wis. 2d 468, 893 N.W.2d 812 (Gableman, J., concurring).

# III. The Officer acted in good faith when obtaining a sample of Paull's blood without a warrant and, therefore, suppression is not a remedy

The right to be secure against unreasonable searches and seizures is protected by both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. State v. Sykes, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 13, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has historically interpreted the Wisconsin Constitution's protections in this area identically to the protections under the Fourth Amendment as defined by the United States Supreme Court. State v. Kramer, 2009 WI 14, ¶ 18, 315 Wis. 2d 414, 759 N.W.2d 598.

When there has been an unlawful search, a common judicial remedy for the constitutional error is exclusion. State v. Eason, 2001 WI 98, ¶¶ 39-45, 245 Wis. 2d 206, 629 N.W.2d 625. That is, illegally obtained evidence will be suppressed as a consequence of the law enforcement officers' misconduct. Id. "The [exclusionary] rule is calculated to prevent, not repair." State v. Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 47, 231 Wis.2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517, citing Elkins v. United States, 364 U.S. 206, 217 (1960).

The circuit court is allowed to complete its own analvsis and make its own decisions regarding the application of this rule. The United States Supreme Court wrote that "while courts must ever be concerned with preserving the integrity of the judicial process, this concern has limited force as a justification for the exclusion of highly probative evidence." Stone v. Powell, 428 U.S. 465, 488 (1976). In the case at hand, judicial integrity is not sullied by the admission of defendant's blood test results, nor will its suppression serve any remedial objective. Both the United Supreme Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court "have determined that the retroactivity rule does not bar application of the good faith exception in situations where police act in objectively reasonable reliance on settled (albeit subsequently overruled) law." State v. Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 44, 313 Wis. 2d 767, 758 N.W.2d 463.

In <u>Herring v. United States</u>, 555 U.S. 135 (2009), the Court held that the exclusionary rule did not apply to evidence seized incident to an invalid arrest. The defendant had been arrested by one jurisdiction upon receiving information from another jurisdiction that there was a warrant for his arrest, which in fact had been

withdrawn months before, but not noted because of faulty police record keeping. <u>Id</u>. at 137-38. The Court affirmed the holding of both lower courts that the exclusionary rule did not apply in these circumstances:

Our cases establish that such suppression is not an automatic consequence of a Fourth Amendment violation. Instead, the question turns on the culpability of the police and the potential of exclusion to deter wrongful police conduct. Here the error was the result of isolated negligence attenuated from the arrest. We hold that in these circumstances the jury should not be barred from considering all the evidence.

#### Id. at 137.

Two facts of importance to the Court were that: 1) the arresting officers did nothing wrong; and 2) the error of the other jurisdiction was mere negligence, rather than recklessness or deliberate misconduct. <u>Id.</u> at 138-39. In the course of its analysis the Court stated:

Indeed, exclusion "has always been our impulse," Hudson resort, not our first Michigan, 547 U.S. 586, 591 (2006). First, the exclusionary rule is not an individual right and applies only where it "'result[s] in appreciable deterrence.'" We have repeatedly rejected the exclusion argument that is а necessary consequence of a Fourth Amendment violation.

Herring, 555 U.S. at 140-41 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

In addition, the benefits of deterrence must outweigh the costs. "We have never suggested that the exclusionary rule must apply in every circumstance in which it might provide marginal deterrence." "[T]o the extent that application of the exclusionary rule could provide some incremental deterrent, that possible benefit must be weighed against [its] substantial social costs." The principal cost of applying the rule is, of course, letting guilty and possibly dangerous defendants go free - something that "offends basic concepts of the criminal justice system."

Herring, 555 U.S. at 141-42 (citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The Court clarified that the "good faith" exception would be better referred to as "objectively reasonable reliance." Id. at 142. The Court then traced the extension of the good faith exception from reliance upon an invalid search warrant to reliance upon a statute later declared unconstitutional to reliance upon mistaken information in a court's database. Id.

The Court made clear that the exclusionary rule should be invoked only if the police conduct was flagrant and the police can be charged with knowledge of the unconstitutionality:

The extent to which the exclusionary rule is justified by these deterrence principles varies with the culpability of the law enforcement conduct. As we said in Leon, "an assessment of

flagrancy of the police misconduct constitutes an important step in the calculus" of applying the exclusionary rule. 468 U.S. 897, 911 (1984). Similarly, in Krull we elaborated that "evidence should be suppressed 'only if it can be law enforcement officer that the knowledge, charged with ormay properly be knowledge, that the search was unconstitutional under the Fourth Amendment."

Herring, 555 U.S. at 143 (citations omitted) (emphasis
added).

The Court concluded by holding that:

To trigger the exclusionary rule, police conduct **must** be sufficiently deliberate that exclusion can meaningfully deter it, and sufficiently culpable that such deterrence is worth the price paid by the justice system. As laid out in our cases, the exclusionary rule serves to deter deliberate, reckless, or grossly negligent conduct, or in some circumstances recurring or systemic negligence.

#### Id. at 144 (emphasis added).

The Court also raised two other points important to the analysis. The first is that the Court acknowledged that suppression would have some deterrent effect on sloppy police record keeping, but that it was not worth the "substantial social costs." Id.

The second point was raised when the Court drew an analogy to <u>Franks v. Delaware</u>, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), wherein the Court held that mere "police negligence in obtaining a warrant did not even rise to the level of a Fourth

Amendment violation, let alone meet the more stringent test for triggering the exclusionary rule." Herring at 145.

Therefore, it would make no sense to suppress evidence in Herring's case, absent recklessness or deliberate misconduct. Id.

In Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332 (2009), the United States Supreme Court held that previous Supreme Court cases on the issue of search incident to arrest had been "misinterpreted" for close to thirty years. In that case, the Court acknowledged its own role in misleading lower courts in their interpretations of prevailing case law. "[The State's] reading of Belton has been widely taught in police academies and . . . law enforcement officers have relied upon the rule in conducting vehicle searches during the past 28 years." Gant, 556 U.S. at 349 (footnote omitted).

In the case of <u>Gant</u>, it was only the interpretation of case law that was at issue; there was no actual statute that stated specifically what officers should do. In this case, there was such a statute, which the officer has been taught to rely upon.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has addressed this exact issue in <a href="State v. Dearborn">State v. Dearborn</a>, 2010 WI 84, 313 Wis. 2d 767, 758 N.W.2d 463. In that case:

The main question [was] whether the exclusionary rule should be applied to remedy the constitutional violation, or alternatively, whether the good faith exception should preclude application of the exclusionary rule and the evidence's consequent suppression.

 $\underline{\text{Id}}$ . ¶ 2. This case dealt with a search incident to arrest that occurred before the United States Supreme Court found that such searches were unconstitutional, in  $\underline{\text{Gant}}$ . The Court ultimately found that the evidence should  $\mathbf{not}$  be suppressed, stating:

We hold that the good faith exception precludes application of the exclusionary rule where officers conduct a search in objectively reasonable reliance upon clear and settled Wisconsin precedent that is later deemed unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court.

#### Dearborn, 2010 WI 84, ¶ 4.

The Wisconsin Supreme Court also addressed a similar issue in <a href="State v. Ward">State v. Ward</a>, 2000 WI 3, 231 Wis.2d 723, 604

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